POLICY BRIEF February 2023



CLIMATE
MAINSTREAMING:
CLIMATE AND
GENDER POLICY

SUMMARY

Gender equality and climate change are two of the EU's political priorities and are recognized as crosscutting issues mainstreamed in the multiannual financial framework (MFF), along with the digital transition, biodiversity and sustainable development goals (SDGs). However, gender equality is the least well mainstreamed priority, has no specific spending targets, and is not integrated into climate policy or climate mainstreaming. This constitutes a problem because gender inequality and climate change are interconnected. Gender intersects with other structural inequalities, including class, ethnicity, age and (dis)ability, to amplify or reduce these differences. Gender inequality is the result of deeply embedded social norms, practices and processes, and has proven remarkably persistent.

All policy is gendered. In a society structured around hierarchical gender relations, policies will always have an unequal gendered impact. Ignoring this reinforces existing inequalities. For example, failure to conduct a gender analysis of just transition proposals reinforces the gendered division of labour in carbon-intensive regions, prioritizing alternative employment for men, without addressing the paid and unpaid care work conducted by women in the same community.

This policy brief argues that gender equality and climate change should both be mainstreamed throughout all EU internal and external activities. The synergies between them should be fully explored in order to achieve the greatest co-benefits. Achieving gender equality will have benefits for climate action and addressing climate change will contribute to gender equality. Together, they will contribute to the systemic transformative change which is essential to both gender and climate justice. Integrating gender and climate mainstreaming into all policy sectors and at all levels of policymaking will contribute to the achievement of the EU's SDG targets, the implementation of the UNFCCC commitments and its Gender Action Plan, and the EU's own European Green Deal and Gender Equality Strategy.



AUTHOR

Professor of Gender Politics,

Nottingham
Trent University

IN PARTNERSHIP WITH



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	3
Adverse effects of gender-blind climate policies	6
Gender and climate policy	8
Barriers to the integration of climate change and gender equality	10
Principles and policy recommendations	13
Conclusions and way forward	15
Endnotes	16
References	21
About the author	26
On similar topics	27





THE FOUNDATION FOR EUROPEAN PROGRESSIVE STUDIES (FEPS)

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium) www.feps-europe.eu @FEPS_Europe



FRIEDRICH-EBERT-STIFTUNG

EU-Office Brussels Rue du Taciturne 38 BE-1000 Brussels (Belgium) www.brussels.fes.de @fes_brussels



This Policy Brief was produced with the financial support of the European Parliament. It does not represent the view of the European Parliament.

Introduction

Mainstreaming climate is essential. Climate change is a crosscutting issue which cannot be addressed in a policy silo. This has been recognised in the inclusion of climate change in the EU budget as a horizontal political priority that must be mainstreamed in all EU activities. The term 'climate mainstreaming' is beginning to overtake its precursors – Environmental Policy Integration (EPI) and Climate Policy Integration (CPI) – and is increasingly associated in European Commission documents with spending targets.¹

But seeing climate mainstreaming in its ascendancy prompts the question what has happened to gender mainstreaming? And, more specifically, has the EU's Treaty obligation to mainstream gender throughout all of its internal and external activities² been carried out in relation to climate policy and climate mainstreaming?

Gender equality and climate change are two of the EU's top priorities, as announced by Ursula von der Leyen in her political guidelines³ and further developed in the Gender Equality Strategy⁴ and the European Green Deal⁵. Both are recognised as crosscutting issues which need to be integrated into all policy sectors and at all stages of policymaking. This is the principle of mainstreaming. Gender mainstreaming was introduced at the Fourth UN Conference on Women in Beijing in 1995 and adopted by the EU the following year. Since then, gender mainstreaming, combined with specific actions targeted at women, has been central to the EU's approach to achieving gender equality, which is a treaty obligation, a core value of the EU, a fundamental right and a key principle of the European Pillar of Social Rights. However, EU climate policy and related sectors, such as energy, transport and agriculture remain gender blind, as does climate mainstreaming itself.6

This is a problem because gender-blind policy can reproduce or exacerbate existing inequalities, and can create new ones. Climate change affects people differently as a result of structural inequalities and the impact of climate change can then go on to accentuate these inequalities. Disadvantaged groups are more exposed to climate hazards, more susceptible to them and less able to cope with and recover from the damage they suffer. Those who are more likely to be harshly affected include poor, marginalised, racialised, and elderly people. Since gender is one of the most pervasive inequalities globally, it plays a role in the experience of climate change.



Since gender is one of the most pervasive inequalities globally, it plays a role in the experience of climate change



Gender affects exposure to climate change; vulnerability to its impact; access to knowledge and resources for adaptation and resilience; decision making and leadership; attitudes and behaviour; contribution to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions; creation, preservation and restoration of carbon sinks; waste, recycling and consumption; energy use and energy-saving. Gender intersects with other structural inequalities to amplify or reduce these differences.

Despite repeated commitments at the international, regional and national level, the world is still far from achieving gender equality, and the EU has seen a regression. UN Women reported in September 2022 that at the current rate of progress, it may take close to 300 years to achieve full gender equality. The 2022 Gender Equality Index produced by the European Institute for Gender Equality finds that in the EU: for the first time in a decade, gender inequalities in employment [...],

education [...], health status and access to health services have grown.¹² Gender gaps in the risk of poverty and the distribution of income between women and men have remained constant.'¹³

At the same time, internationally, regionally and nationally agreed targets to contain global warming are not being met. According to UNEP's analysis of the gap between emissions and targets, 'wide-ranging, large-scale, rapid and systemic transformation is now necessary to achieve the temperature goal of the Paris Agreement.'14

Inequality and climate change are interconnected, and action take to address them can have co-benefits. However, these co-benefits have to be identified and sought explicitly, in order to avoid the risk of negative adverse effects. Gender equality and climate change need to be addressed holistically, and one way of doing this is ensuring that gender equality is fully integrated – or mainstreamed – into all climate action and explicitly integrated into climate mainstreaming.

This policy brief highlights the importance of joined-up policymaking in maximising the synergies between gender equality and climate action. Climate policy can have positive or negative effects on social equality, including gender equality. Mainstreaming gender throughout all climate related policy and at all stages of policymaking can avoid adverse effects and maximise co-benefits. However, joined up policy is not enough on its own. Gender and climate justice can only be achieved through systemic transformative change, which eradicates underlying structural inequalities, including gender, alongside class, ethnicity, (dis)ability and others.

The following section introduces the concept of gender and the advantages of taking a gender lens to climate change and climate policy. It then introduces the concept of mainstreaming and the importance of mainstreaming crosscutting issues such as gender equality and climate change. The next sections show the adverse effects of gender-blind climate policy and the limited implementation of gender mainstreaming in EU climate-related sectors. Finally, there is a discussion of the barriers to gender-responsive climate action and recommendations for overcoming them.

Gender

Gender refers to the social and cultural expectations associated with masculinity and femininity that structure societies, social relations and institutions, privileging certain groups and individuals, and disadvantaging others. Gender is a social relation; it is not a synonym for women. Gender intersects with other structural inequalities, including race, class, disability, religion, sexuality, to produce specific forms of privilege and disadvantage. So, while women everywhere have been disadvantaged in relation to men, particular groups of women are disadvantaged in relation to others. Gender analysis exposes relations of inequality according to gender, examining the structures, processes and power relations between and within groups of women and men. Intersectional analyses look at the way that other inequalities intersect with gender to produce multiple vectors of inequality in relation to climate change.

Gendered vulnerability to climate change is not an essential or intrinsic property of women. Instead, it results from historically and culturally specific patterns of practices, processes and power relations that render some groups or persons disadvantaged. People who are socially, economically, culturally, politically or institutionally marginalised are particularly vulnerable to climate change and to measures taken to address it. The capacity to adapt to, and recover from, the effects of climate change is also unequally distributed and varies with gender. It is structural, relational and context-specific. Moving beyond

discourses of gendered vulnerability expands our understanding of the climate-gender nexus, its relevance within Europe, as well as beyond, and the synergies that would produce better climate and gender equality outcomes.

Gender research brings to climate policy analysis a focus on structural inequalities, power imbalances and intersecting axes of privilege and disadvantage. Addressing gender inequality requires a systemic approach. Short-term, technical interventions fail to dismantle unequal power structures or exert a structural impact on closing gender gaps. The gender pay gap, the under-representation of women in sites of decision-making, and gender-based violence against women are symptoms of underlying structural gender relations which privilege men and disadvantage women. The solution lies not in treating the symptoms, but in fundamental transformative change. Gendered power relations need to be exposed and eradicated. This requires deep social and organisational transformation.

Research on gender and climate change

Knowledge about gender and climate change has its origins in research and practice in the fields of gender and development, and gender and environment. It has evolved from a focus on women as especially vulnerable to climate change to analyses of the structural inequalities that affect the relation between climate change and different social categories.

The global South is more exposed to climate change impacts than the global North. However, it has become increasingly evident that Europe is not immune to climate change. The main threats are droughts, floods, wildfires and heatwaves, and the European heatwave of 2019 was the world's deadliest disaster that year, killing 2500 people. The adverse effects of these events are unequally distributed, as a result of existing

inequalities. For example, a UK study of the 2022 heatwave showed that people of colour are four times more likely to live in the neighbourhoods most exposed to heat,²⁰ and the prevalence and severity of gender-based violence – particularly sexual and domestic violence – escalate in times of crisis, such as natural disasters and pandemics.²¹

Other studies have drawn attention to women's environmental activism and leadership, and to institutional barriers to their full involvement in climate decision-making at local, national and international level. There has been a shift from focusing on gender and climate in developing countries (vulnerability, adaptation, disasters) to recognising the relevance of the gender-climate nexus in the global north - in adaptation, but also mitigation, attitudes, behaviour and policies. The SDGs have been part of this shift, making sustainable development an issue for every country in the world, not just the global South. However, the OECD finds that "While there is a large body of evidence on the gender-environment nexus in developing countries from case studies and project reports by UN bodies, other international organisations and NGOs, systematic data collection is in short supply. With few exceptions, the [gender-environment] nexus is largely absent from domestic policy debates on gender equality and environmental sustainability in OECD countries, and data collection initiatives are scant."22 The literature on gender and climate change in Europe is still emerging, with notable recent contributions.23

What do we mean by mainstreaming?

The underlying principle of mainstreaming is that some problems cannot be solved by addressing them in isolation. Instead, they are crosscutting and need to be integrated into all policy sectors and at all stages of policymaking. Gender mainstreaming has been widely embraced by

international, national and local organisations and institutions as a means of achieving gender equality. The same principle can be found in concepts such as Environmental Policy Integration (EPI), Climate Policy Integration (CPI), a whole-of-government approach, and policy coherence (including Policy Coherence for Sustainable Development - PCSD). Recently, the term climate mainstreaming has become more common in EU policy documents, and was introduced in the multiannual financial framework (MFF) 2014-2020 and retained in the MFF 2021-2027. The EGD refers to the Commission's 25 per cent target for climate mainstreaming across all EU programmes. In contrast to gender mainstreaming, climate mainstreaming is used in relation to expenditure. There is an overall target of 30 per cent climate spending in the EU budget for the 2021-2027 period, but no overall target for spending related to gender.²⁴ In addition, the Court of Auditors found that gender is the crosscutting priority least well integrated into the EU's spending programmes and least well incorporated into impact assessments. 25

66

Gender mainstreaming has been widely embraced by international, national and local organisations and institutions as a means of achieving gender equality



Since the introduction of gender mainstreaming in the late 1990s, research has highlighted the gap between widespread rhetorical commitments to the principle of mainstreaming at international, regional and national levels, and the paucity of discernible outcomes. Institutional stickiness, organisational culture, resistance, backlash and other structural barriers have all been identified as obstacles²⁶, as has the tendency to treat main-

streaming as a box-ticking exercise.²⁷ Studies find that the shift from rhetorical commitment to effective implementation requires a full commitment to the objectives of gender justice and climate justice, along with strong political will and institutional cultural shift. There has also been a growing interest in interlinkages and synergies that characterises recent international collaborative research programmes, such as the World Social Report and the IPCC reports, and that suggests that policy integration is essential for achieving the SDGs.

Adverse effects of gender-blind climate policies

All policy is gendered. In a society structured around hierarchical gender relations, policies will always have unequal gendered impact. Policy which ignores gender relations is likely to reinforce existing inequalities, and may also create new ones. Gender-blind climate policy ignores the ways that climate change interacts with structural inequalities. For example, flood prone areas and housing where the temperature cannot be adequately regulated are more likely to be inhabited by poor, marginalised and racialised people.²⁸ Heatwaves kill more women than men,²⁹ and cases of gender-based violence increase in the aftermath of climate disasters.30 Addressing the underlying inequalities that cause these differentiated effects not only breaks the cycle of exposure, vulnerability and further inequality, but it also increases the climate resilience of society as a whole. The adverse effects of climate change on health - whether through heat, drought, disease, stress, or food insecurity - have consequences not just for gender-differentiated morbidity and mortality, but also for care needs and availability, and this could, in turn, lead to more GHG emissions.31 Gender-blind adaptation ignores the way in which climate health hazards make additional demands on women as paid and unpaid carers.

Unless explicit efforts are made to transform gender power dynamics, climate policy can aggravate gender and intersecting inequalities. Failure to conduct a gender analysis of just transition proposals, for example, reinforces the gendered division of labour in carbon-intensive regions, prioritising alternative employment for men, without addressing the paid and unpaid care work conducted by women in the same community. Structural gender inequalities in the labour market aggravate women's greater exposure to poverty in work and in retirement and women's reduced access to sick benefits and paid leave. It also fails to address the under-representation of men in health and social care and in education, which contributes to the under-valuation of these sectors and reinforces social norms and stereotypes.

Energy is a key sector for mitigation, as it is responsible for 75 per cent of total GHG emissions in the EU.32 However, ex ante impact assessments are essential in order to reveal the potential unequal impact of some mitigation measures, such as carbon taxes, which can accentuate economic inequalities and further impoverish the poor and the rural. Women are more likely to experience energy poverty due to their lower average income³³, and are disproportionately present in elderly populations with additional energy needs. According to the EIGE report on women and poverty, almost half of lone parents across the EU are at risk of poverty or social exclusion, and almost 9 out of 10 lone parents are women.34 The 2021 Gender Equality Index finds that 'single women, particularly in old age, are at the highest risk of poverty.'35 The steep energy price increase since the end of 2021, exacerbated by the cost-of-living crisis caused by the war in Ukraine, is amplifying these problems and having a particularly harsh impact on some groups of women, including ethnic minority women, disabled women, single mothers and older women.36

Gender-blind policy approaches which focus on reducing consumption at the level of the individual or the household, can increase pressure on domestic consumers to make green choices. Given the unequal distribution of household labour, this falls most frequently on the shoulders of women. Class and wealth intersect with gender in that green products and services are often more expensive to the consumer. Similarly, a focus on technological fixes can increase inequality. For example, solar panels and energy-efficient housing are more accessible to the wealthy, enabling them to reduce their energy costs and therefore further increasing the wealth gap.

Continued subsidies for fossil fuel companies contribute to climate change and air pollution, which have greater effects on the poor and marginalised, reduce health and well-being, and increase the need for care. Removing these subsidies would provide revenue which could be invested in measures that reduce inequality, such as social protection, accessible and affordable public transport, and green energy.

Transport is another key sector for climate change mitigation, accounting for 29 per cent of the EU's GHG emissions. It is the only sector whose emissions are not decreasing and a major source of health hazards, including noise and pollution. Transport is also one of the most unequal consumption categories, with the top 10 per cent income group using 45 per cent of the energy for land transport and 75 per cent of the energy for air transport.³⁷ Frequent-flying 'super emitters' who represent just 1 per cent of the world's population caused half of aviation's carbon emissions in 2018.38 The disproportionate contribution to GHG emissions of a small number of wealthy travellers is itself gendered, with men making up 89.1 per cent of billionaires worldwide.39

Women and men use different modes of transport and make different types of journey at dif-

ferent times of day. 40 They take different factors into account when planning their travel, with women paying more attention to considerations of personal safety. Efforts to decarbonise transport need to take these gendered factors into account. The gendered differences in travel behaviour are mostly due to the gendered division of productive and reproductive labour, with women often combining paid employment with household and caring responsibilities.41 The International Transport Forum finds that "gender has been shown to be a more robust determinant of transport mode choice than age or income in many cities regardless of their level of development".42 Women are more likely than men to use public transport, and the gender gap increases with age. Under-investment in public transport can isolate poor and rural communities and has safety problems for women, transgender and racialised people. Ignoring gendered transport usage and needs produces transport that does not meet the needs of some groups, including women, and misses the opportunity for synergies with health. For example, active transport and reduction in air pollution has a positive impact on (child) obesity and well-being/mental health from exercise, green spaces and noise reduction. Transport policy which meets the needs of all users has to take these differences into account. Efforts to decarbonise transport can use the findings of gender analyses to identify initiatives which have the most positive outcomes.

66

Ignoring the gender-climate nexus can have an adverse effect on climate mitigation



Ignoring the gender-climate nexus can have an adverse effect on climate mitigation. For exam-

ple, men have been shown to have a larger carbon footprint as a result of their greater use of air travel, car ownership and car use.⁴³ Ignoring the relation between constructions of masculinity and carbon-intensive modes of consumption is a missed opportunity for changing behaviour as part of a broader climate change strategy. The over-representation of men in climate decision-making may reflect some of these masculine behaviours and attitudes towards consumption and further exclude the gender-climate nexus from policymaking.

Gender and climate policy

The UNFCCC, as the primary venue of global climate negotiations and diplomacy, has only recently begun to recognise the climate-gender nexus. The Lima Work Programme on Gender and Climate Change, adopted in 2014 and renewed in 2016, invites Parties "to advance gender balance, promote gender sensitivity in developing and implementing climate policy, and achieve gender-responsive climate policy in all relevant activities under the Convention". The Preamble of the Paris Agreement (2015) urges Parties to "respect, promote and consider their obligations on gender equality" when taking action to address climate change. The UNFCCC Gender Action Plan (2017) aims to translate these rhetorical commitments into concrete action in five priority areas that seek to advance knowledge and understanding of gender-responsive climate action and its coherent mainstreaming, as well as women's full, equal and meaningful participation in the UNFCCC process. These initiatives have the potential to bring about change by integrating a gender perspective into efforts to address climate change at all levels of governance. However, as Huyer et al. argue, this must be done in such a way that it transforms gendered power relations, rather than simply targeting the different needs of women and men.44

Gender in EU climate governance

Governments prepare and update UNFCCC nationally determined contributions (NDCs) every five years, setting out their commitments for mitigation and adaptation. The EU submitted an official EU NDC in 2015 and an updated version in 2020. In common with the other NDCs from the global North, the EU's submission focuses almost exclusively on mitigation, rather than adaptation. International comparative analyses of the revised NDCs show that gender is better integrated in the updated submissions than in the original ones. The proportion of NDCs containing references to gender or women increased from 46 to 96 per cent; gender responsive targets, policies and measures from 13 to 55 per cent. However, only 24 per cent of 120 countries identified national gender equality institutions as part of climate change governance and 27 per cent noted the importance of women's participation in decision-making on climate action.45 A comparative analysis conducted by CARE found that only Cambodia, Honduras, Kenya, Marshall Islands, Nepal, Panama, and Papua New Guinea achieve the highest ranking as a 'role model group' in their integration of gender equality into their NDCs. Of the ten countries in the second-best group, only Norway is in the global North. Gender equality is not integrated in mitigation strategies in the global North and, with the exception of the countries in the 'role model' group, gender-responsive budgeting is almost completely absent.46 The EU makes a single reference to gender in its revised 2020 NDC, and remains outside the CARE report's top groups ('role model' and 'progressive'). It states: "The EU NDC is prepared in the context of the EU's commitment to gender equality and crosscutting priorities, as articulated in its commitments such as: the European Pact on Gender Equality; the commitment to create and maximise synergies between the social, environmental, and economic dimensions of sustainable development; the EU's support for adoption of the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples; integrating the dimensions of human rights and gender equality by member states into their national plans, strategies under the EU Energy Union Governance Regulation."⁴⁷ Although this statement could be read as a commitment to the fundamental mainstreaming of gender equality throughout all EU climate policy, there is no evidence to suggest that the engagement extends beyond this statement, especially in relation to mitigation.

The EU's submission for the mid-term review of the progress of implementation of the activities contained in the UNFCCC Gender Action Plan is based on reports by the member states. It cites some examples of good practice, such as the Just Transition Agreements which are being developed in Spain, but gives little detail on each of them. It reports that 15 member states have appointed a National Gender and Climate Change Focal Point (NGCCFP) as part of the implementation of the UNFCCC Gender Action Plan. However, most member states reported challenges including: "lack of resources - be it financial, organisational or technical; lack of understanding of the role amongst colleagues and different government ministries; and lack of training at national level in advance of appointment".

The EU's submission claims that gender analysis and a gender-responsive approach tends to be more systematic in strategy on adaptation to climate change than on mitigation.⁴⁸ However, the EU's Adaptation Strategy, introduced in 2021 to update the original 2013 version, mentions gender only once in the whole document – in a footnote on p. 18.⁴⁹ The Strategy, despite being introduced after von der Leyen's declaration of a Union of Equality and the adoption of the Gender Equality Strategy, shows no sign of gender analysis or of gender mainstreaming.

Gender is mentioned in the Adaptation Communication of the EU submitted to the UNFCCC in

accordance with Article 7 of the Paris Agreement and the new EU Adaptation Strategy. ⁵⁰ However, this document is not gender mainstreamed either. Gender appears in the last three pages, in a section entitled "Gender-responsive adaptation action and traditional knowledge, knowledge of indigenous peoples and local knowledge systems related to adaptation". This section focuses more on indigenous peoples and local communities and does not address gender-responsive adaptation directly. Its one example of good practice describes Sweden's work to enhance the participation of indigenous peoples and local communities such as the Sami. ⁵¹

In sum, EU climate policy remains gender blind.⁵² This includes the European Green Deal, Fit for 55, and the 2021 Climate Law. 53 Impact Assessments are either not carried out at all (eg, the 2021 Climate Law) or ignore gender (eg, the Impact Assessment accompanying the Communication 'Stepping up the EU's Climate Action'). A study of the construction sector found that "In none of the[...] policy documents on energy, the European Performance of Buildings Directive, or the National Energy and Climate Plans is there any reference to women or gender."54 Energy policy is gender blind, despite the growing body of evidence which demonstrates the relation between gender and energy consumption, access, attitudes and behaviour.55 The Smart and Sustainable Mobility Strategy (SSMS), which provides the framework for EU transport policies, claims that EU transport policies will be compatible with the Gender Equality Strategy and other EU Equality Strategies. 56 However, the explicit actions and measures on gender equality are limited to increasing the number of women working in the transport sector. The rest of the strategy focuses largely on greening the existing traffic infrastructure, rather than shifting to more sustainable modes of transport. Its focus on electric vehicles and private cars disproportionately serves the needs and interests of better-off men.57

Barriers to the integration of climate change and gender equality

Institutional barriers to gender-responsive climate governance

Historical institutional arrangements, which locate gender equality policy in employment or social affairs, with poor integration into areas such as economic policy, trade, industry and energy act as a barrier to gender mainstreaming. In order to succeed, gender mainstreaming needs to be embraced by policy actors outside departments and agencies specifically engaged with gender equality.58 The actions of gender equality units, the equalities commissioner, and the European Parliament committee for women's rights and gender equality, are crucial for keeping gender equality on the agenda; for harnessing evidence and formulating strategies; and for holding other actors to account. They cannot, however, bring about gender mainstreaming without buy-in from policymakers across the institutions. This needs to be driven by political will and accompanied by institutional transformation throughout the entire organisational culture.59 Underlying gendered assumptions are deeply embedded in organisational culture and institutional norms or 'the way things are done around here'. They shape the way in which problems are defined and the solutions proposed to address them, as well as ways of working. Male dominance, male privilege, and masculinity are so embedded in our institutional cultures that they can be invisible. 60 Gender analysis exposes these cultures and norms and opens up space for institutional cultural shift. The number of women present is not enough to bring this about, although efforts to increase their presence can contribute to broader challenges to masculine institutional cultures.

Assumptions about the norm mean that women are often ignored – for example, in medical

research, in studies of heating needs in offices, or in the design of safety equipment. Assumptions that climate change is a problem that can be solved with scientific and technological solutions, and assumptions that climate change governance is rational and will lead to decisions and action which are best for the planet, ignore the power relations, and the political and economic interests involved. Challenges from research and from civil society organisations can disrupt these assumptions and expose the power dynamics at play.

66

The number of women present is not enough to bring this about, although efforts to increase their presence can contribute to broader challenges to masculine institutional cultures



Resistance to mainstreaming can be found in organisations, which are sticky and path dependent. Some areas of government, including energy and transport, have traditionally been particularly resistant to gendered thinking and challenge. Gender equality, at best, is tacked on to already-formulated policies or, at worst, is simply ignored. Gender mainstreaming is often treated as a box-ticking exercise that has no effect on policy processes or outputs.

A lack of inclusiveness in decision-making also acts as a barrier. This goes beyond counting the number of women. The NAP Global Network analysed the gender composition of the negotiations on gender and climate change at COP26. A new addition to the report was data on speaking times in plenaries and selected meetings during the subsidiary body meetings which were held virtually. It found that "Despite the fact that the numbers of women and men on party delega-

tions are almost equal (49 per cent women and 51 per cent men), men accounted for 60 per cent of the speakers and 74 per cent of the speaking time in plenaries, emphasising the need to look beyond the numbers when considering gender balance in participation". ⁶² This reveals the ongoing challenges in achieving the full, equal and meaningful participation of women.

Research has not unequivocally demonstrated that an increase in the number of women decision makers would produce more environmentally-friendly outcomes, although this claim is frequently made, and is supported by some studies.63 The IPCC states "the mere inclusion of women and men in planning does not necessarily translate to substantial gender-transformative action, for example in National Adaptation Programmes of Action across sub-Saharan Africa and national and sub-national climate action plans in India".64 A Swedish study on the transport sector concludes that more research is needed to confirm the link between women decision makers and environmentally-friendly outcomes. The authors invite us, in the meantime, to consider "how to move research from the counting of bodies and the representation of women in sustainable transport policymaking to looking at how gender norms inform policymaking [...] There is a need for further analysis of institutional factors and values embodied in organisations that somehow make transport a masculine coded sector".65 The focus needs to shift from the number of women in transport (although there is no justification for their underrepresentation in this, or any other, sector) to challenging the underlying gendered assumptions which inform policy and policymaking institutions. Carrying out rigorous gender analyses to expose, then address, these assumptions and modes of decision-making is important.

Barriers to the integration of gender equality and climate action include current governance struc-

ture and institutional capacity, along with the lack of capacity within relevant institutional structures. Awareness and understanding of the connections between gender and climate change can produce integrated policy with benefits for both sets of objectives. Integrating gender analysis into climate policies will increase the potential for synergies. In transport, for example, it will help identify "existing gender gaps, systematic or unconscious gender biases, and allow a better understanding of how different policies affect women and men due to the discrepancies in social roles, travel patterns, transport preferences and behaviour. In addition. gender analysis identifies constraints, opportunities, and entry points by first identifying, then narrowing, gender gaps and creating effective and equitable policies and interventions that will result in social and economic benefits for women and men."66 Gender analysis at the problem definition stage is essential. Departments and units in all sectors must adequately consider gender. Crosscutting issues require coordinated action across policy areas, and the sharing of information, knowledge and data.

Approaches that support the capture of synergies between policy goals, such as those relevant to gender equality and climate change, encourage decision-making to shift away from one-way sectoral discussions towards a more systemic approach. Systematic thinking that brings together policy goals can ensure the integration of gender into climate action⁶⁷ and overcome the conceptual challenges of mainstreaming crosscutting issues into one another, ensuring that climate mainstreaming is gender mainstreamed.

Failure to address the root causes of gender inequality

Gender inequality is the result of deeply embedded social norms, practices and processes, and has proven remarkably persistent.⁶⁸ Despite the EU's commitment to gender equality and to gen-

der mainstreaming as a way of achieving it, the gender pay gap in the EU (the difference between average gross hourly earnings of male and female employees as a percentage of male gross earnings) is still 13 per cent.⁶⁹ Some of this gap can be explained by differences in the sectors in which men and women work, in their education or working time, but according to Eurostat, 80 per cent of this gap remains unexplained, even after correcting for the different average characteristics of working women and men.⁷⁰ The gender pension gap is even higher, at 29.5 per cent, making older women more exposed to poverty than older men,⁷¹ with knock-on effects for energy poverty and health in the context of a changing climate.

Gender equality efforts in the EU are still focused on enabling women to catch up with men, for example, closing the gender pay and pensions gaps, and increasing women's political participation, but without challenging the structures and institutions that have brought about these inequalities. They tend to be limited to finding ways for some women to enter unchanged institutions. The celebration of women's access to leadership positions on company boards is one example of this. Gender mainstreaming is still confined to gender equality actors and advocates and has not been embraced by those it was intended to bring on board. Institutionally, gender equality is still treated as a separate issue, despite routine declarations that gender equality will be mainstreamed throughout (as in the Adaptation Communication of the EU, for example, and the EU's revised NDC). Climate policy struggles to recognise the links between gender and climate change, beyond the standard representation of vulnerable victims of climate change in developing countries, facing adaptation challenges caused by drought and crop failure.

Key sectors for climate mitigation, including energy, transport, construction and agriculture, have shown few signs of integrating gender equality

into their climate strategies. At best, it is tacked on to unchanged policy approaches, either as a separate and specific issue, such as increasing the number of women in the sector, or in a bland assertion that gender equality will be taken into account. Without addressing the underlying inequalities, many of which are caused by the gendered division of unpaid care work, they will not attain the goal of gender equality.

Rhetorical commitments to gender equality and climate change as crosscutting issues are often not followed through in practice, as can be seen in the many examples of gender-blind policy discussed above. This can be due to a lack of political will or a lack of understanding of the relation between gender equality and climate change. A failure to understand gender as a power relation means that policy which attempts to incorporate gender equality in climate change may simply treat the symptoms, failing to dismantle unequal power structures.72 Challenges to gender equality as a political objective and desirable social value, combined with a rise of right-wing parties and ideologies in parts of the EU have increased the barriers to gender equality measures and demands.73



Rhetorical commitments to gender equality and climate change as crosscutting issues are often not followed through in practice, as can be seen in the many examples of gender-blind policy discussed above



The concentration of wealth and growing inequality in the EU has increased the influence of a very small minority who own the resources and produce a disproportionate share of emissions. The fossil fuel, aviation and automotive industries, trade and agriculture have substantial interest in influencing climate policy.⁷⁴ Not only does this

impede climate justice but it also marginalises social justice, including gender equality. The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) found that globally US\$423 billion is spent annually on fossil fuel subsidies. They argue that these subsidies deepen inequality and impede action on climate change.⁷⁵

The next section suggests some principles for addressing the problems outlined above.

Principles and policy recommendations

Principles for a just gendered climate governance

Gender-responsive climate governance – the need for institutional cultural shift and inclusion

Gender-responsive climate governance aims to transform the structures and power relations that reinforce social and gendered inequalities. It aims to transform discriminatory social, political and economic practices and patriarchal norms. It is informed by rigorous gender analysis and is committed to institutional change and the equal and meaningful participation of women and men in decision-making and policy processes. It takes a holistic, multi-dimensional approach.⁷⁶ An all-of-government approach, which brings together gender and climate change actors and institutions, with adequate capacity and financing is crucial for gender-responsive climate governance.77 Political commitment at the highest level, horizontal policy coordination at all levels, and gender-responsive budgeting are essential components. Decision makers need an increased ability to map "the complexities of interconnected problems, multi-level governance, multi-organisational settings, cross-cutting issues, policy networks, inter-dependencies, and linkages" and to form coherent policy frameworks.78

Justice and equality need to be at the centre of climate decision-making processes and outcomes. The full and meaningful inclusion of those who are currently excluded moves beyond the participation in unchanged institutions of a small group of women. Efforts are needed to change unequal power dynamics and foster inclusive decision making. As the IPCC argues, "Rather than merely emphasising the inclusion of women in patriarchal systems, transforming systems that perpetuate inequality can help to address broader structural inequalities not only in relation to gender but also other dimensions such as race and ethnicity."

Addressing the root causes of gender inequality

Moving from political discourse to effective action on the ground requires a repoliticisation of gender. This encompasses a recognition that gender is a power relation and not a synonym for women; that the relation between gender and climate change is not reduced to the impact on women of climate hazards; and that short-term policy that addresses immediate needs or focuses on equal opportunities needs to be replaced with a long-term commitment to dismantling gendered hierarchies. Policy which emphasises women's vulnerability to climate change can obscure the structural inequalities causing the vulnerability and suggest policy solutions that provide short-term treatment to the symptoms, rather than addressing the cause.81 "Intentional long-term policy and programme measures and investments to support shifts in social rules, norms and behaviours are essential to address structural inequalities and support an enabling environment for marginalised groups to effectively adapt to climate change".82

Gender and climate justice is predicated on the eradication of inequalities based on gender, which intersect with ethnicity, age, and disability amongst others. Placing the elimination of inequalities and poverty above the imperative of economic growth paves the way for the reduction of consumption and environmental degradation, leading to the co-benefits of gender equality and social and environmental sustainability. Addressing poverty, energy poverty, health and inequality, including gender inequality, improves resilience to climate impacts for groups that are disproportionately affected, including women.⁸³



Moving from political discourse to effective action on the ground requires a repoliticisation of gender



Gender equality and care are central to gender-just climate governance. Care work is disproportionately done by women, yet excluded from measures of economic growth. Shifting perspectives of an economy that works for all people and the planet will place care at the centre. ⁸⁴ This is increasingly important, as the effects of a changing climate are already increasing demand for care, for example, as a result of detrimental impacts on health of heatwaves. The creation of decent jobs in the health and care sectors is an essential part of a just transition. ⁸⁵

Examples of concrete policies and practices integrating climate and gender at different levels of governance

Examples of good practice are cited in reports to the UNFCCC and in some NGO reports. These include examples of gender mainstreaming at policy, institutional and programme/project level in sub-Saharan Africa, which are presented by the Research Programme on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS)⁸⁶ and "promising examples from countries that are

taking concrete steps to integrate gender considerations into their NAP processes": the Central African Republic, Chad, Ghana, Kenya, Cote d'Ivoire, the Dominican Republic and the Republic of Marshall Islands and Suriname. 87 However, so far, it has been difficult to find examples resulting from rigorous scientific analysis. The IPCC finds that "There are very few examples of successful integration of gender and other social inequities in climate policies to address climate change vulnerabilities and questions of social justice (very high confidence)."88 It states: "To date, empirical evidence on such transformational change is sparse, although there is some evidence of incremental change (eg, increasing women's participation in specific adaptation projects, mainstreaming gender in national climate policies)".89 Case studies from Uganda, Tanzania and Nepal, for example, have shown that "Sharing research-based evidence with parliamentarians can help bring more attention to gender and climate concerns, and encourage the development of appropriate policy and regulatory frameworks."90

Examples of good practice from the global North are very limited, although research programmes are underway to begin to fill this gap.⁹¹ In particular, studies will explore examples of best practice at the local level, including the introduction by feminist mayors in cities such as Paris and Barcelona of radical social and environmental policies.

Policy recommendations:

- Mainstream gender throughout all policy, even in areas that appear to be gender neutral. This includes climate change, but also energy, transport, trade and agriculture.
- Mainstream gender at all stages of the policy process, from issue definition through policy formulation, to implementation and

- evaluation. Gender impact assessments are a crucial part of this process and must identify who is affected by the impact of climate change and by measures taken to address it.
- Mainstream gender in an intersectional way. This means recognising that gender inequality intersects with other structural inequalities, including region, age, ethnicity and disability.
- Collect, analyse and use gender-disaggregated data with an intersectional perspective. Data should be disaggregated by income, sex, age, race, ethnicity, migration status, disability, geographical location and other structural inequalities.
- Raise awareness across all levels of governance of the interconnections between gender and climate change.
- Appoint Gender Focal Points across all departments and agencies with adequate authority to ensure that gender mainstreaming is fully implemented.
- Fully integrate gender budgeting into climate policies and the Just Transition and monitor and evaluate its progress and outcomes.
- Use the transition to a carbon-neutral economy as an opportunity to achieve gender equality in employment, skills and pay.
- Reduce the unpaid care and domestic work of women by investing in gender-responsive public services, universal social protection, health and care systems.
- Repurpose subsidies to roads and aviation to invest in public transport.

- Prioritise public and active transport over private and carbon-intensive transport.
- Tackle energy poverty through a combination of renewables, energy efficiency, and poverty eradication.

Conclusions and way forward

The climate crisis requires urgent coordinated action, and doing this in a gender-responsive fashion will help to redefine the notion of a just transition from one which focuses on finding alternative jobs for men in carbon intensive industries to one which achieves transformative change that is both gender just and climate just. Gender inequality and climate change need to be addressed holistically, in order to maximise the synergies between them. Achieving gender equality will have benefits for climate action and addressing climate change will contribute to gender equality. Integrating gender and climate mainstreaming into all policy will contribute to the achievement of the EU's SDG targets, the implementation of the UNFCCC commitments and its Gender Action Plan, and the EU's own European Green Deal and Gender Equality Strategy.

Endnotes

- 1 Court of Auditors of the European Union (2022) 'Annual Report on the Performance of the EU Budget Status at the End of 2021', Court of Auditors, Luxembourg.
- 2 Article 8 Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).
- Ursula von der Leyen (2019) A Union that Strives for More: My Agenda for Europe. Political Guidelines for the next European Commission 2019-2024. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/resources/library/media/20190716RES57231/20190716RES57231.pdf
- 4 European Commission(2020a) A Union of Equality: Gender Equality Strategy 2020-2025 COM(2020)152 Final.
- 5 European Commission (2019) The European Green Deal, COM(2019)640 final, 11 December.
- Allwood, G. (2020) Mainstreaming Gender and Climate Change to Achieve a Just Transition to a Climate-Neutral Europe, Journal of Common Market Studies, Vol 58, S1, pp. 173-186.
- Brody, A. (2021) 'Mapping the Linkages between Climate Change, Health, Gender and SOGIESC for the Asia-Pacific Region', sparkblue.org: 8.
- 8 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18: 58.
- Buckingham, S. and Le Masson, V. (2017) Understanding Climate Change Through Gender Relations, London and New York: Routledge; Brody, A. (2021) 'Mapping the Linkages between Climate Change, Health, Gender and SOGIESC for the Asia-Pacific Region', sparkblue.org; Huyer, S., Acosta, M., Gumucio, T. and Irisha Jim Ilham, J. (2020) 'Can We Turn the Tide? Confronting Gender Inequality in Climate Policy', Gender & Development 28 (3): 571–91; IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 10 Magnusdottir, G.L. and Kronsell, A. (2021) Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States, London: Routledge.
- 11 UN Women (2022) Progress on the Sustainable Development Goals: The Gender Snapshot, New York: UN Women
- Haas, W., Lampl, C., Aigner, E., and Schmidt A. E. (2023) 'Climate Mainstreaming: climate and health policy', Brussels: FEPS, January 2023.
- 13 European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2022) Gender Equality Index, Vilnius: EIGE.
- 14 UNEP (2022) Emissions Gap Report 2022: The Closing Window. Climate Crisis Calls for Rapid Transformation of Societies, Nairobi: UNEP.
- Resurreccion et al (2019) 'Gender-transformative Climate Change Adaptation: Advancing Social Equity Background Paper to the 2019 Report of the Global Commission on Adaptation', Rotterdam and Washington, DC. p. 4.
- 16 IPCC 2014 p. 6 quoted in Aguilar Revelo, L. (2021) Gender Equality in the Midst of Climate Change: What Can the Region's Machineries for the Advancement of Women Do? Santiago de Chile: ECLAC, p. 14.
- 17 Jerneck, A. (2018) 'What About Gender in Climate Change? Twelve Feminist Lessons from Development', Sustainability, 10, 627: 3.
- Arora-Jonsson, S. (2017) 'Gender and Environmental Policy', in S. MacGregor (ed) Routledge Handbook of Gender and Environment, Abingdon: Routledge, pp. 289–303; Dankelman, I. (2010) Gender and Climate Change: An Introduction, London: Earthscan; Buckingham, S. and Le Masson, V. (2017) Understanding Climate Change Through Gender Relations, London and New York: Routledge.
- 19 Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (2020) 'Disaster Year in Review', Cred Crunch no. 58, UCL Louvain, April, p. 1.

- Gayle, D. (2022) 'UK people of colour four times more likely to live in areas 'at higher risk from heatwaves', The Guardian, 20 July.
- 21 EIGE (2022) Gender Equality Index, p. 59.
- 22 OECD (2021) 'Gender and the Environment: Building Evidence and Policies to Achieve the SDGs', p. 12.
- See, for example, Magnusdottir, G.L. and Kronsell, A. (2021) Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States, London: Routledge; Eggebo, H., Lundberg, A.K. and Teigen, M. (2022) 'Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North', Social Politics.
- 24 Court of Auditors of the European Union (2022) 'Annual Report on the Performance of the EU Budget Status at the End of 2021'.
- 25 Court of Auditors of the European Union (2022) 'Annual Report on the Performance of the EU Budget Status at the End of 2021'.
- Elomäki, A. and Ahrens, P. (2022) 'Contested Gender Mainstreaming in the European Parliament: Political Groups and Committees as Gatekeepers', European Journal of Politics and Gender, July, pp. 1–19. See also Haas, W., Lampl, C., Aigner, E., and Schmidt A. E. (2023) 'Climate Mainstreaming: climate and health policy', Brussels: FEPS, January 2023.
- 27 Allwood, G. (2013) 'Gender Mainstreaming and Policy Coherence for Development: Unintended Gender Consequences and EU Policy', Women's Studies International Forum 39: 42–52.
- 28 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 13: 79.
- Morrow, K. (2017) 'Integrating Gender Issues into the Global Climate Change Régime', in S. Buckingham and V. Le Masson (eds) Understanding Climate Change through Gender Relations, London: Routledge, pp. 31–44.
- Castañeda Carney, I., Sabater, L., Owren, C., Boyer., A.E. and Wen, J. (2020) Gender-Based Violence and Environment Linkages: The Violence of Inequality, Gland, Switzerland: International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN).
- Haas, W., Lampl, C., Aigner, E., and Schmidt A. E. (2023) 'Climate Mainstreaming: climate and health policy', Brussels: FEPS, January 2023.
- Heffernan, R., Heidegger, P., Köhler, G., Stock, A. and Wiese, K. (2021) 'A Feminist European Green Deal towards an Ecological and Gender Just Transition', Friedrich Ebert Stiftung (FES), Berlin, p 12.
- Clancy, J., Daskalova, V., Feenstra, M., Franceschelli, N. and Sanz. M. (2017) Gender Perspective on Access to Energy in the EU, European Parliament, Brussels.
- 34 European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2020) Beijing+25: Area A Women and Poverty: Women at Greater Risk, Vilnius: EIGE, p. 2.
- 35 European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2021) Gender Equality Index 2021, Vilnius: EIGE, p. 36.
- Women's Budget Group (2022) 'The Gendered Impact of the Cost-of-Living Crisis', March (https://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/The-gendered-impact-of-the-cost-of-living-crisis.pdf)
- Heffernan, R., Heidegger, P., Köhler, G., Stock, A. and Wiese, K. (2021) 'A Feminist European Green Deal towards an Ecological and Gender Just Transition', Friedrich Ebert Stiftung (Fes), Brussels, p. 15
- Gössling, S. and Humpe, A. (2020) 'The Global Scale, Distribution and Growth of Aviation: Implications for Climate Change', Global Environmental Change 65.
- 39 https://www.statista.com/statistics/778577/billionaires-gender-distribution/ (data from 2021).
- 40 Sovacool, B.K., Kester, J., Noel, L. and Zarazua de Rubens, G. (2019) 'Are Electric Vehicles Masculinized? Gender, Identity, and Environmental Values in Nordic Transport Practices and Vehicle-to-Grid (V2G) Preferences', Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment 72 (July): 187–202; Kronsell, A., Dymén, C., Smidfelt Rosqvist, L. and Winslott Hiselius, L. (2020) 'Masculinities and Femininities in Sustainable Transport Policy: A Focus on Swedish Municipalities', NORMA 15 (2): 128–44.

- 41 International Transport Forum (2022) Gender Equality and the Role of Women in Decarbonising Transport: 8.
- 42 Ibid.
- Sovacool, B.K., Kester, J., Noel, L. and Zarazua de Rubens, G. (2019) 'Are Electric Vehicles Masculinized? Gender, Identity, and Environmental Values in Nordic Transport Practices and Vehicle-to-Grid (V2G) Preferences', Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment 72 (July): 187–202.
- 44 Huyer, S., Acosta, M., Gumucio, T. and Irisha Jim Ilham, J. (2020) 'Can We Turn the Tide? Confronting Gender Inequality in Climate Policy', Gender & Development 28 (3): 571–91: 586.
- United Nations Secretary General (2022) 'Achieving Gender Equality and the Empowerment of All Women and Girls in the Context of Climate Change, Environmental and Disaster Risk Reduction Policies and Programmes: Report of the Secretary-General', New York: 8.
- 46 CARE International, and Climate Action Network South Asia (CANSA) (2021) 'Report Card: Where Is Gender Equality in National Climate Plans (NDCs)?', The Hague.
- 47 Germany and the European Commission on behalf of the EU and its member states (2020) Update of the NDC of the European Union and its Member States, Berlin: 12.
- France and the European Commission (2022) 'Submission by France and the European Commission on behalf of the EU and its Member States for the Mid-Term Review of the Progress of Implementation of the Activities Contained in the Gender Action Plan': 5.
- 49 European Commission (2021) Forging a climate-resilient Europe the New EU Strategy on Adaptation to Climate Change COM(2021) 82 Final.
- Slovenia and the European Commission on behalf of the European Union and its Member States (2021) 'Adaptation Communication of the European Union' (https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/20211007_EU_adaptation_comms.pdf)
- 51 Slovenia and the European Commission on behalf of the European Union and its Member States (2021) 'Adaptation Communication of the European Union' (https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/20211007_EU_adaptation_comms.pdf)
- Allwood, G. (2020) 'Mainstreaming Gender and Climate Change to Achieve a Just Transition to a Climate-Neutral Europe', Journal of Common Market Studies, Vol 58, S1, pp. 173-186.
- Allwood, G. (2022) 'How Just and How Equal? The EU's Transition to Climate Justice and Gender Equality', Foundation for European Progressive Studies (FEPS), Brussels.
- Clarke, L. and Sahin-Diksen, M. (2021) 'Why Radical Transformation Is Necessary for Gender Equality and a Zero Carbon European Construction Sector' (pp. 169-70) in G. L. Magnusdottir and A. Kronsell (eds) Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States, Abingdon: Routledge, pp. 164–80.
- 55 Clancy, J., Daskalova, V., Feenstra, M., Franceschelli, N. and Sanz, M. (2017) 'Gender Perspective on Access to Energy in the EU', European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Brussels.
- 56 European Commission (2020b) Communication Sustainable and Smart Mobility Strategy Putting European Transport on Track for the Future COM(2020) 789 final.
- Heffernan, R., Heidegger, P., Köhler, G., Stock, A. and Wiese, K. (2021) 'A Feminist European Green Deal towards an Ecological and Gender Just Transition', Friedrich Ebert Stiftung (FES), Brussels, p. 17.
- See also Haas, W., Lampl, C., Aigner, E., and Schmidt A. E. (2023) 'Climate Mainstreaming: climate and health policy', Brussels: FEPS, February 2023; Hötte, K. (2023) 'Climate Mainstreaming: climate and digital policy', Brussels: FEPS, February 2023.
- European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2016) Institutional Transformation: Gender Mainstreaming Toolkit: Vilnius, EIGE; Rao, A., Sandler, J., Kelleher, D. and Miller, C. (2016) Gender at Work. Theory and Practice for 21st Century Organisations, Abingdon and New York: Routledge.
- Arora-Jonsson, S. (2017) 'Gender and Environmental Policy' in S. MacGregor (ed) Routledge Handbook of Gender and Environment, 289–303: 300

- 61 Criado-Perez, C. (2019) Invisible Women: Exposing Data Bias in a World Designed for Men, London: Vintage.
- Dazé, A. and C. Hunter (2022) 'Gender-Responsive National Adaptation Plan (NAP) Processes: Progress and Promising Examples', NAP Global Network Synthesis Report 2021–2022, 3 (www.napglobalnetwork.org).
- 63 For example, Salamon, H. (2022) 'The Effect of Women's Parliamentary Participation on Renewable Energy Policy Outcomes', European Journal of Political Research.
- 64 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18: 62-3.
- Winslott Hiselius, L., Kronsell, A., Dymén, C. and Smidfelt Rosqvist, L. (2019) 'Investigating the Link between Transport Sustainability and the Representation of Women in Swedish Local Committees', Sustainability 11 (17): 14.
- 66 International Transport Forum (2022) 'Gender Equality and the Role of Women in Decarbonising Transport': 26-29.
- 67 International Transport Forum (2022) 'Gender Equality and the Role of Women in Decarbonising Transport': 9.
- 68 Evans, M. (2016) The Persistence of Gender Inequality, Oxford: Polity.
- 69 European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2022) Gender Equality Index, Vilnius: EIGE.
- 70 https://ec.europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/gender-equality/equal-pay/gender-pay-gap-situation-eu_en
- 71 European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2022) Gender Equality Index, Vilnius: EIGE.
- Aguilar Revelo, L. (2021) 'Gender Equality in the Midst of Climate Change: What Can the Region's Machineries for the Advancement of Women Do?', Santiago de Chile: ECLAC United Nations: 11.
- Cavaghan, R. (2017) Making Gender Equality Happen. Knowledge, Change and Resistance in EU Gender Mainstreaming, London: Routledge.
- 74 See, for example, https://influencemap.org/report/Aviation-Industry-Lobbying-European-Climate-Policy-131378131d9503b4d32b365e54756351
- 75 United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (2021) 'Alternative Uses of Pre-Tax Fossil Fuel Subsidies per Year', New York.
- Resurreccion et al (2019) 'Gender-transformative Climate Change Adaptation: Advancing Social Equity', Background Paper to the 2019 Report of the Global Commission on Adaptation, Rotterdam and Washington, DC: 7.
- United Nations Secretary General (2022) 'Achieving Gender Equality and the Empowerment of All Women and Girls in the Context of Climate Change, Environmental and Disaster Risk Reduction Policies and Programmes: Report of the Secretary-General', New York: 13-14.
- 78 International Transport Forum (2022) 'Gender Equality and the Role of Women in Decarbonising Transport': 9.
- 79 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18: 57.
- 80 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18: 62-3.
- Huyer, S., Acosta, M., Gumucio, T. and Irisha Jim Ilham, J. (2020) 'Can We Turn the Tide? Confronting Gender Inequality in Climate Policy' Gender & Development 28 (3): 571–91.
- 82 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18: 57.
- IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18: 62-3.

- United Nations Secretary General (2022) 'Achieving Gender Equality and the Empowerment of All Women and Girls in the Context of Climate Change, Environmental and Disaster Risk Reduction Policies and Programmes: Report of the Secretary-General', New York: 16.
- Heffernan, R., Heidegger, P., Köhler, G., Stock, A. and Wiese, K. (2021) 'A Feminist European Green Deal towards an Ecological and Gender Just Transition', Bonn: Friedrich Ebert Stiftung (FES): 10.
- Chingarande, D., Huyer, S., Lanzarini, S., Makokha, J.N., Masiko, W., Mungai, C., Njuki, J. et al (2020) 'Background Paper on Mainstreaming Gender into National Adaption Planning and Implementation in Sub-Saharan Africa', CCAFS Working Paper No. 323, Wageningen, the Netherlands.
- Dazé, A. and Hunter, C. (2022) 'Gender-Responsive National Adaptation Plan (NAP) Processes: Progress and Promising Examples', NAP Global Network Synthesis Report 2021–2022 (www.napglobalnetwork.org): 15.
- 88 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18 p. 57:
- 89 IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 18: 62-3.
- 90 Huyer, S., Acosta, M., Gumucio, T. and Irisha Jim Ilham, J. (2020) 'Can We Turn the Tide? Confronting Gender Inequality in Climate Policy', Gender & Development 28 (3): 571–91: 586.
- 91 Research in progress by Magnusdottir, G.L., Morrow, K. and Buckingham, S.

References

Abels, G., Krizsan, A., MacRae, H. and van den Vleuten, A. (eds) (2021) Routledge Handbook on Gender and EU Politics, New York: Routledge.

Aguilar Revelo, L. (2021) Gender Equality in the Midst of Climate Change: What Can the Region's Machineries for the Advancement of Women Do?, Santiago de Chile: ECLAC.

Allwood, G. (2013) 'Gender Mainstreaming and Policy Coherence for Development: Unintended Gender Consequences and EU Policy', *Women's Studies International Forum* 39: 42–52.

Allwood, G. (2020) 'Mainstreaming Gender and Climate Change to Achieve a Just Transition to a Climate-Neutral Europe', *Journal of Common Market Studies*.

Allwood, G. (2021) 'EU External Climate Policy', in G.L. Magnusdottir and A. Kronsell (eds) *Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States*, Abingdon: Routledge.

Allwood, G. (2022) 'How Just and How Equal? The EU's Transition to Climate Justice and Gender Equality', Foundation for European Progressive Studies (FEPS), Brussels.

Arora-Jonsson, S. (2017) 'Gender and Environmental Policy', in S. MacGregor (ed) *Routledge Handbook of Gender and Environment*, Abingdon: Routledge, 289–303.

Bouzarovski, S., Thomson, H., Cornelis, M., Varo, A. and Guyet, R. (2020) *Towards an Inclusive Energy Transition in the European Union: Confronting Energy Poverty amidst a Global Crisis*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Brody, A. (2021) 'Mapping the Linkages between Climate Change, Health, Gender and SOGIESC for the Asia-Pacific Region', sparkblue.org

Buckingham, S. and Le Masson, V. (2017) Introduction in S. Buckingham and V. Le Masson (eds) *Understanding Climate Change Through Gender Relations*, London and New York: Routledge.

CARE International, and Climate Action Network South Asia (CANSA) (2021) 'Report Card: Where Is Gender Equality in National Climate Plans (NDCs)'?, The Hague.

Castañeda Carney, I., Sabater, L., Owren, C., Boyer, A.E. and Wen, J. (2020) *Gender-Based Violence and Environment Linkages: The Violence of Inequality*, Gland, Switzerland: International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN).

Cavaghan, R. (2017) Making Gender Equality Happen. Knowledge, Change and Resistance in EU Gender Mainstreaming, London: Routledge.

Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (2020) 'Disaster Year in Review', *Cred Crunch* No. 58, UCL Louvain, Belgium.

Chakma, T., Rigg, S. and Ramsay, A. (2022) 'Women Confronting Loss and Damage in Africa', ActionAid, London.

Chingarande D., Huyer, S., Lanzarini, S., Makokha, J.N., Masiko, W., Mungai, C., Njuki, J et al (2020) 'Background Paper on Mainstreaming Gender into National Adaption Planning and Implementation in Sub-Saharan Africa', CCAFS Working Paper No. 323, Wageningen, the Netherlands.

Clancy, J., Daskalova, V., Feenstra, M., Franceschelli, N. and Sanz, M. (2017) *Gender Perspective on Access to Energy in the EU*, European Parliament, Brussels.

Clarke, L. and Sahin-Diksen, M. (2021) 'Why Radical Transformation Is Necessary for Gender Equality and a Zero Carbon European Construction Sector', in G.L. Magnusdottir and A. Kronsell (eds) *Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States*, Abingdon: Routledge.

Court of Auditors of the European Union (2022) 'Annual Report on the Performance of the EU Budget - Status at the End of 2021', Court of Auditors, Luxembourg.

Criado-Perez, C. (2019) Invisible Women: Exposing Data Bias in a World Designed for Men, London: Vintage.

Dankelman, I. (2010) Gender and Climate Change: An Introduction, London: Earthscan.

Dazé, A. and Hunter, C. (2022) 'Gender-Responsive National Adaptation Plan (NAP) Processes: Progress and Promising Examples', NAP Global Network Synthesis Report 2021–2022 (www.napglobal-network.org).

Eggebo, H., Lundberg, A.K. and Teigen, M. (2022) 'Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North', *Social Politics*.

Elomäki, A. and Ahrens, P. (2022) 'Contested Gender Mainstreaming in the European Parliament: Political Groups and Committees as Gatekeepers', *European Journal of Politics and Gender*, July, 1–19.

European Commission (2019) The European Green Deal, COM(2019)640 final, 11 December.

European Commission (2020a) A Union of Equality: Gender Equality Strategy 2020-2025 COM(2020)152 final.

European Commission (2020b) Communication on Sustainable and Smart Mobility Strategy – Putting European Transport on Track for the Future COM(2020) 789 final.

European Commission (2021) Forging a Climate-Resilient Europe – the New EU Strategy on Adaptation to Climate Change COM(2021) 82 final.

European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2016) *Institutional Transformation: Gender Mainstreaming Toolkit*, Vilnius: EIGE.

European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2020) Beijing+25: Area A – Women and Poverty: Women at Greater Risk, Vilnius: EIGE.

European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2021) Gender Equality Index 2021, Vilnius: EIGE.

European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2022) Gender Equality Index 2022, Vilnius: EIGE.

Evans, M. (2016) The Persistence of Gender Inequality, Oxford: Polity.

France and the European Commission (2022) 'Submission by France and the European Commission on Behalf of the EU and its Member States for the Mid-Term Review of the Progress of Implementation of the Activities Contained in the Gender Action Plan'.

Gayle, D. (2022) 'UK People of Colour Four Times More Likely to Live in Areas 'at Higher Risk from Heatwaves", *The Guardian*, 20 July.

Germany and the European Commission on behalf of the EU and its member states (2020) Update of the NDC of the European Union and its Member States, Berlin.

Gössling, S. and Humpe, A. (2020) 'The Global Scale, Distribution and Growth of Aviation: Implications for Climate Change', *Global Environmental Change* 65.

Granat, M., Reyes, E. and Burns, B. (2020) International Gender Commitments to National Action Integrating Gender in Climate Change Policies and Processes.

Green, F. and Healy, N. (2022) 'How Inequality Fuels Climate Change: The Climate Case for a Green New Deal', *One Earth*, 635–49.

Heffernan, R., Heidegger, P., Köhler, G., Stock, A. and Wiese, K. (2021) 'A Feminist European Green Deal – towards an Ecological and Gender Just Transition', Friedrich Ebert Stiftung (FES), Berlin.

Huyer, S., Acosta, M., Gumucio, T. and Irisha Jim Ilham, J. (2020) 'Can We Turn the Tide? Confronting Gender Inequality in Climate Policy', *Gender & Development* 28 (3): 571–91.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

International Energy Agency (IEA), and OECD (2021) 'Women in Senior Management Roles at Energy Firms Remains Stubbornly Low, but Efforts to Improve Gender Diversity Are Moving Apace'.

International Labor Organization, and World Health Organization (2022) The Gender Pay Gap in the Health and Care Sector a Global Analysis in the Time of COVID-19, Geneva: ILO.

International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) (2019) *Renewable Energy. A Gender Perspective*, Abu Dhabi: IRENA.

International Transport Forum (2022) 'Gender Equality and the Role of Women in Decarbonising Transport'.

Jerneck, A. (2018) 'What about Gender in Climate Change? Twelve Feminist Lessons from Development', Sustainability 10.

Kronsell, A., Dymén, C., Smidfelt Rosqvist, L. and Winslott Hiselius, L. (2020) 'Masculinities and Femininities in Sustainable Transport Policy: A Focus on Swedish Municipalities', *NORMA* 15 (2): 128–44.

Magnusdottir, G.L. and Kronsell, A. (2021) *Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States*, London: Routledge.

OECD (2021) 'Gender and the Environment: Building Evidence and Policies to Achieve the SDGs'.

O'Hagan, A. and Klatzer, E. (2018) Gender Budgeting in Europe, London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Rao, A., Sandler, J., Kelleher, D. and Miller, C. (2016) *Gender at Work. Theory and Practice for 21st Century Organisations*, Abingdon and New York: Routledge.

Resurrección, B.P., Bee, B.A., Dankelman, I., Park, C.M.Y, Halder, M. and McMullen, C.P. (2019) 'Gender-Transformative Climate Change Adaptation: Advancing Social Equity', Background Paper to the 2019 Report of the Global Commission on Adaptation, Rotterdam and Washington, DC.

Salamon, H. (2022) 'The Effect of Women's Parliamentary Participation on Renewable Energy Policy Outcomes', *European Journal of Political Research*.

Schipper, E.L.F., Revi, A., Preston, B.L., Carr, E.R., Eriksen, S.H., Fernandez-Carril, L.R., Glavovic, B.C. et al (2022) 'Climate Resilient Development Pathways', in *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

Slovenia and the European Commission on behalf of the European Union and its Member States (2021) 'Adaptation Communication of the European Union'.

Sovacool, B.K., Kester, J., Noel, L. and Zarazua de Rubens, G. (2019) 'Are Electric Vehicles Masculinized? Gender, Identity, and Environmental Values in Nordic Transport Practices and Vehicle-to-Grid (V2G) Preferences', *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 72, July.

UN Women (2022) Progress on the Sustainable Development Goals. The Gender Snapshot, New York: UN Women.

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (2021) Alternative Uses of Pre-Tax Fossil Fuel Subsidies per Year, New York: UNDP.

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2022) Emissions Gap Report 2022: The Closing Window. Climate Crisis Calls for Rapid Transformation of Societies, Nairobi: UNEP.

United Nations Secretary General (2022) 'Achieving Gender Equality and the Empowerment of All Women and Girls in the Context of Climate Change, Environmental and Disaster Risk Reduction Policies and Programmes: Report of the Secretary-General', New York: UN.

Winslott Hiselius, L., Kronsell, A., Dymén, C. and Smidfelt Rosqvist, L. (2019) 'Investigating the Link between Transport Sustainability and the Representation of Women in Swedish Local Committees', Sustainability 11 (17): 4728.

About the author



GILL ALLWOOD

Gill Allwood is Professor of Gender Politics at Nottingham Trent University, UK, and Visiting Professor in EU International Relations and Diplomacy Studies, College of Europe, Bruges.

She has published widely on gender and EU policy, in particular, gender mainstreaming, development, migration and climate change.

In 2018, she worked with CONCORD to research and write a report on the implementation and impact of the second Gender Action Plan (GAPII) and has co-authored a report on the implementation of Agenda 2030 for the European Parliament.

She was Editor of the Journal of Contemporary European Studies, 2014-18, and is on the International Advisory Board of the European Journal of Politics and Gender.

About Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung

The EU Office of the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung (FES), with its headquarters in Brussels and activities in Brussels and Strasbourg, was opened in 1973. The EU Office participates in the European integration process, backs and accompanies the interests of the Federal Republic of Germany in Europe and contributes to shaping the external relations of the European Union.

www.brussels.fes.de | Twitter: @FES_Brussels | Instagram: FES_Europe | Facebook: @FESonline

About FEPS

The Foundation for European Progressive Studies (FEPS) is the think tank of the progressive political family at EU level. Its mission is to develop innovative research, policy advice, training and debates to inspire and inform progressive politics and policies across Europe.

FEPS works in close partnership with its 68 members and other partners -including renowned universities, scholars, policymakers and activists-, forging connections among stakeholders from the world of politics, academia and civil society at local, regional, national, European and global levels.

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 | Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium)

www.feps-europe.eu | Twitter/Instagram: @FEPS_Europe | Facebook: @FEPSEurope

Cover photo: © Shuttertock

ON SIMILAR TOPICS











